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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION
BEFORE THE ATOMIC SAFETY AND

LICENSING BOARD

In the Matter of

Docket No. 50-446 — (<5
Construction Parmit
Amendment

TEXAS UTILITIES ELECTKIC
COMPANY

(Comunche Peak Steam Electric
Station, Unit 2)

TU ELECTRIC'S ANSWER
TO THL PETITION FOR INTERVENTION

AND REQUEST FOR HEARINGS BY THE DOWS

On February 3, 1992, Texas Utilities Ilectric Company (“TU
Electric”) requested that *ne U.S. Nuclear Ragulatory Commission
("NRC”) amend Construction Permit Nc¢. CPPR-127 such that the
latest cate for completing construction of the Comanche Pealk
Steam Electric Station ("CPSES”) Unit 2 would be extended from
August 1, 1992 to August 1, 1985. The NRC Staff completed an
F - .ronmental Assessment of the request and issued a Finding of
.« Significant Impact on June 23, 1992. 57 Fed. Reg. 28,885
(1992). On July 28, 1992, the NRC issued an "Order Extending the
Latest Construction Completion Date” for Comanche Peak Steam
Electric Station, Unit 2. Under Jdate of July 28, 1992, Sandra
Long Dow cdba Disposable Workers of Comanche Peak Steam Electric
ftation, and R. Micky Dow (the "Dows' and "DWCPSES” or

*Petitioners”) filed a "Petition for Intervention and Request for
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+searings” ("Petition”) regarding TU Electric’s request. TU
Slectric hereby files its response in opposition to the Petition
and asks that the request for leave to intervene be summarily
denied. As is fully discussed below, the Petition ghould not be
accepted for filing because it contains faise, scandalous, and

unsupportable accusations. Furthermore, the Petition does not

Petition does not specifically identify the aspects of the
subject matter of the proceeding as to which Petitioners wish to

intervene.

. ZThe Petition Should Not 3e Accepted for Filing
The Petition is not the first pleading filed by the Dows
regarding Comanche Peak. During the last year, the Dows have

initiated more than a dozen actions related t Comanche Peak,

|
|
\
\
|
establish standing for either the Dows or DWCPSES. Finally, the

including the following:

0 A "Motion to Reopen the Record” (Nov. 20, 199%1) in the
operating license (OL) proceeding for Comanche Feak
Units 1 and 2 and the construction permit amendment
(CPA) proceeding for Comanche Peak Unit 1, which was

denied by the Commission in CLI-92-01, 35 NRC 1 (1992).

o A "Petition for Leave to Intervene Out of Time"” (Feb.

20, 1992) and "Motion to Reopen the Record” (Feb. 21,

1992) in the OL and CPA proceedings ior Comanche Peak,




.
which were denied by the Commission on August 12, 1592
in CLI~92-12, 36 NRC (19%2).

° A "Reguest to Institute Proceedings to Modify, Suspend
or Revoke the License Held Ly Texas Utilities Electric
Company for Unit 1 of the Comanche Peak Steam Electric
Station” (May 19, 1992), which is still pending before

the Director of Nuclear Reactor Regulation.

< Eleven petitions before the U.S. district courts and
courts of appeal against TU Electric, the NRC, and
other parties. Most of these petitions have been
dismissed, and the Dows have not prevailed in any of

the cases.¥

i/

See Dow v, NRC, Docket No. 92-1348, “Original Petition for
Temporary Regtraining Order and Original Petition for
Preliminary Injunction” and "Petition for Review of
Administrative Order” (D.C. Cir. filed Aug. 6, 1992); Row v.
NRC, Docket No. 92-12.4 (D.C. Cir. filed May 21, 1992);
United States v. Comley, Docket No. 92-1319, Slip op. (lst
Cir. Apr. 10, 1992)(denying Micky Dow’s petition to
intervene); Dow v. NRC, Docket No. 92-1069, Slip op. (D.C.
Cir. May 7, 1992)(denying the Dovs’ regquest for a temporary
restrairing corder and preliminary injunction, and further
requiring the Dows to show cause why the Commission’s
decision in CLI-92-01 should not be summarily affirmed); Dow
¥. NRC, Docket Nos. 91-1461 and 1462, Slip op. (D.C. Cir.
Jan. 30, 1992)(dismissing the Dows' petitions for review);
In re Dow, Docket Nos. 91-1451 and 91-1444, Slip op. (5th
Cir. May 7, 9, 1991)(denying Dows’ petitions for injunction
pending appeal and for writ of mandamus); Dow v. Texas
Utilities Electric Co., Docket No. 91-1238, Slip op. (W.D.
Pa. June 23, 1992)(dismissir ; the Dows’' petition); Dow v.
Comanche Peak Steam Electric Station, Docket No. CA4-91-255-
E, Slip op. (N.D. Tex. Apr. 11, 1991)(dismissing Mr. Dow’s
petition for injunction). :
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in addition, Mr. Dow refused to comply with a subpoena issued by
the NRC. The NRC eventually decided to withdraw this subpoena
because it concluded that "there was no reasonable basis to
believe that [he is] in possession of information indicative of
safety concerns regarding the Comanche Peak facility."¥

As discussed in detail in a previous response by TU
Electric,?¥ the Dows have engaged in a pattern of not complying
with the Commission’s reqguirements, of making frivolous and
scurrilous claims, of making statements which the Dowg knew or
should have known omit material facts, and of harassing TU
Electric and the NRC. Given this pattern of behavior, TU
Electric requested the Commission to admonish the Dows and not to
accept any further pleading from the Dows unless the Commission
affirmatively determines that the pleading facially complies with
the Commission’s requirements, reflects a good faith effort to
confirm the validity of the factual and legal allegations
contained therein, and otherwise appears to be free of the types
of defects summarized above.®¥ This request is still pending

before the Commission.¥

2/ Sge letter dated Nov. 20, 1991, from Chairman Ivan Selin to
Richard E. Dow at 1.

3/ "TU Electric’s Answer to the Petition to Intervene and
Motion and Supplemental Motion to Reopen by Micky Dow and
Sandra Long Dow and TU Electric’s Reguest for Admonition of
the Dows” (Mar. 16, 1992) at 22-36.

4/ Id.

5/ By Memorandum and Order dated August 12, 1992, the
Commission denied the Dows'’ petition for late intervention
(filed Feb. 20, 1992) and motion to reopen the record (filed
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The instant Petition by the Dows suffers from the same types
of defects discussed in TU Electric’s request for admonition. 1In
particular, as discussed in Section III below, the Petition does
not even facially address one of the Commigsion’s requirements
governing petitions to intervene. Moreover, the Petition
contains scandalous allegations., In particular, the Petition

alleges the following:

¢] Sandra Long Dow has "been detained, harassed, and
molested by individuals and parties, either in the
direct pay, or under the control of the licensse [sic],
in order to prevent those investigations into

violations at the CPSES facility.” Petition at 2-3.

o Micky Dow “was forced to flee his home, in Texas, for
fear of his life and safety, as a direct and proximate
result of telephone threats made to him by one Earl
[sic) Nye, an executive officer of the licensee.”

Petition at 2.

Feb. 21, 1992). 1Texas Utilities Electric Co, (Comanche Peak
Steam Electric Station, Units 1 & 2), CLI-92-12, 36 NRC
(1992). The opinion did not address TU Electric’'s request
for admonition of the Dows, which was made in its Answer to
the alove-cited petition and motion (filed Mar. 16, 1992).
The instant Petition provides even more suptort for
admonishment, considering its untrue and scandalous
allegations.
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These allegations are unsubstantiated, false, and scandalous. 1In
particular, the latter allegation is preposterous, especially
considering the fact that, following Mr. Nye's conversation with
Mr. Dow, TU Electric attempted to cooperate with Mr. Dow by
arranging for TU Electric managers to meet with Mr. Dow to learn
of any safety concerns he might have had.¥

Furthermore, Mr. Dow neglects to mention the most probable
reason that he has chosen not to remain in Texas. As the
enclosed Affidavit of David L. Andrews to this response
demonstrates, Mr. Dow is a convicted felon, and there are felony
arrest and misdemeancr warrants outstanding against him in
Texas. 1In this circumstance, it is likely that Mr., Dow's
inability to establish standing is a result of his own conduct.

In summary, similar to their previous pleadings, the Dows'
Petition does not comply with the Commission’s requirements,
contains scurrilous claims, and omits material facts. As a

result, the Petition should not be accepted for filing.

II. The Dows and DWCPSES Do Not Have Standing to Intervene

In the context of a request for extension of an existing
corstruction permit, standing to intervene is determined by the

same principles as would be used to evaluate standing to

6/ See letter dated September 1, 1951, from the Dows to
Chairman lvan Selin at 1-2.

1/ It is our understanding that two of these arrest warrants
remain outstanding. A third has been dismissed.
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intervene in proceedings related to a new construction permit or
operating license. Northern Indiana Public Service Co. (Bailly
Generating Station, Nuclear 1), LBP-80-22, 12 NRC 191, 196,
aff'd, ALAB-619, 12 NRC 558, 563-65 (1980) (holding that the
Board would grant standing to “those ps” itioners who are in a
position to allege injury from the operation of the facility if
they otherwise qualify for intervention, including raising at
least one contention within the scope ¢  ig proceeding”).
Section 2.714(a) of the NRC's regulations addresses these
principles, requiring that petitions for intervention set forth
the interest of the petitioner in the proceeding, how that
interest might be affected by the result of the proceeding, the
reasons why they should be permitted to intervene, and the
specific aspects of the subject matter as to which intervention
is sought. 10 C.F.R. § 2.714(a)(2) (1992). The NRC has held
that geographic proximity of a petitioner’'s residence to a
nuclear plant is enough to comply with the interest requirements
of 10 C.F.R. § 2.714 for construction permit and operating
license proceedings. Virginia Electric Power Co., (North Anna
Nuclear Power Station, Units 1 & 2), ALAB-522, 9 NRC 54, 56
(1979). Distances of up to 50 miles from a nuclear nower plant
have been found to be within the geographical zone of interest.
Tennessee Valley Authority (Watts Bar Nuclear Plant, Units 1 &
2), ALAB-413, 5 NRC 1418, 1421 n.4 (1977).

In the absence of a showing of residence within 50 miles,

the Commission applies judicial concepts of standing in
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determining whether a party has sufficient interest in the
proceedings. Portland General Electric Co. (Pebble Springs
Nuclear Plant, Units 1 & 2), CLI-76-27, 4 NRC 610, 613-14 (1976).
A two-pronged test applies: (1) whether the action being
challenged has caused or will probably cause some injury-in-fact
to the person seeking to establish standing; and (2) whether such
injury is arguably within the zone of interests protected by the
statute governing the proceedings. Jld. at 613; see also Lujan v.
pefenders of wWildlife, 112 S. Ct. 2130 (1992).¥

The Petition does not allege thzt the Dows reside within 50
miles of the CPSES. 1In fact, their mailing address is given as
Monroeville, Pennsylvania, which ie hundreds of miles from the
site. In an apparent effort to overcome this, the Petition
states that R. Micky Dow "owns property in Hood County, Texas, in
the City of Granbury, Texas, which is within a 50 mile .adius of

the Comanc*e Peak Steam Electric Station, and could be adversely

B/ In the event that a petitioner lacks standing to intervene
as of right under judicial standing concepts, he may
nevertheless be admitted to a proceeding as a matter of
discretion. Pebble Springs, supra, 4 NRC at 614-15. While
discretionary intervention will depend on an assessment of
all the facts and circumstances o the particular case,
petitioners who show significant ability to contribute on
substantial issues of law or fact and set forth these
matters with suitable specificity to allow their evaluation
will be more readily granted permission. Jd., at 617. The
burden of demonstrating that he/she could make a valuable
contribution lies with the petitioner, and "[i]n this
regard, broad, generalized averments will not suffice.”

(Sheffield, Ill., Low-lLevel
Radioactive Waste Disposal Site), ALAB-473, 7 NRC 737, 745
(1978). The Petition provides no basis whatsoever for
granting discretionary intervention.
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affected by any accident therein.” Petition at 2.Y However,
this statement does not indicate the nature of the property owned
by Mr. Dow (i.&., whether the property is real or personal, and
whether the property is tangible or intangible). In order to
base standing on proximity to a nuclear faciiity, a petitioner
must describe the nature of his/her property or residence, as
well as its proximity to the facility, and should describe how
the health and safety of the petitioner way be jeopardized.
Norshern States Power Co. (Pathfindar Atomic Plant), LBP-§9-30,
20 NRC 211, 315 (1989); see alsc Washington Public Power Supply
System (WPPSS Nuclear Project No. 2), LBP-78-7, 9 NRC 330, 336-38
(1979) (holding that a petitioner, who lived several hundred
miles from the site, but owned and rented out farmland which he
visited occasionally and which was 10 to 15 miles from the site,
had not demonstrated a proximity to the site which would
establish an interest adequate for standing. An occasional trip
to the farm was held to be "insufficient to determine [that] his
health and safety would be endangered.”) Hence, even assuming

for the sake of argument that Mr. Dow owns property in Granbury,

8/ The U.S. District Court for the Western District of
Pennsylvania recently dismissed an action filed by the Dows
and DWCPSES due to Petitioners’ lack of standing. The
CoLrt’'s determination was based in part on the Dows' failure
to show injury to themselvets due to their lack of proximity
to the CPSES. §See Dow v, Texas UL
Docket No. 91-1238, Slip op. (W.D. Pa. June 23, 1992)
(citing Apr. 6, 1992 Report and Recommendation of U.S.
Magistrate Judge R.C. Mitchell). The Magistrate Judge noted
that “the plaintiffs, professed residents of Pennsylvania,
have neither alleged nor shown that they have been injured
by the defendants’ actions.” Report and Recommendation at 5
n.6.
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1988) (in order to have standing to challenge a licensing action,
a petitiorer must show a “substantial likelihood” that denial of
the license would redress the petitioner’s alleged injury).
Therefore, the Dows have not demonstrated any interest under
judicial concepts of standing which would gualify either of them
for standing in thie proceeding.

Furthermor2, to the extent that the Dows are requesting
intervention on behalf of the DWCPSES, they have not addressed
the requirements for organizational standing set forth in Houston
Lighting & Power Co. (Allens Creek Nuclear Generating Station,
Urit 1), ALAE-535, 9 NRC 377, 389-94 (1979). In particular, the
Petition does not allege any organizational injury nor identify
any members of DWCPSES who have authorized DWCPSES to represent
them in this proceeding and who have indi.idual standing.

In conclusion, the Dows have not established standing for
themselves on the basis of the proximity of their residence or
their property to the CPSES. Nor have they asserted any other
injury in fact which falls within the zone of interests protected
by the Atomic Energy Act. Furthermore, they have not established
organizational standing on behalf of the DWCPSES. Hence, the
Petition for leave to intervene and the request for a hearing
should be denied based on the lack of standing of the

Petitioners./

ll/ While declining to rule on standing, the Commission recently
observed in an order denying ancother petition for
intervention filed by the Dows, that “we have strong doubts
that [the Dows) could satisfy our standing requirements.
First, the Dows themselves live in Pennsylvania while



11I1. The Petition Does Not Specifically Identify Any Aspects va
the Subject Matter for Intervention

Section 189a of the Atomic Energy Act does not provide an
ungqualified right to a hearing to persons whuse interests may be
affected by a proceeding. Rather, prospective intervenors must
establish their right to a hearing by complying with the NRC's
procedural regulstions. Business and Professional People for the

Public Interest v. Atomic Energy Commission, 502 F.2d 424, 428
(D.C. Cir. 1974). The NRC's procedural regulations require that

a person whose interest may be affected by a proceeding and who
desires to participate as a party must file a written petition to
intervene which sets forth "the specific aspect or aspects of the
subject matter of the proceeding as to which petitioner wishes to
intervene.” 10 C.F.R. § 2.714(a)(2) (1992).

Petitioners have not identified the specific aspects of the
subject matter of the proceeding as to which they wish to
intervene (nor have they identified any contentions). Instead,
the Petition filed by the Dows and DWCPSES merely asserts that
“pursuant [to) 42 U.S.C. 2239(a)(1) the Commission s required to
grant such a hearing.” Petition at 4., As indicated above,
Petitioners are incorrect. Because they have not complied with
the NRC's procedural requirements for intervention (i.e., they

have not identified the specific aspects of the subject matter of

Comanche Peak is in Texas. Thus, it is unlikely the Dows
themselves have standing. Moreover, the Staff raises
several possibly valid ccacerns regarding the standing of
the Disposable Workers organization.” Texas Utilities
Electric Co. (Comanche Peak Steam Electric Station, Units 1
& 2) CLI-92-12, 36 NRC , Slip op. at 16-17 n.9 (1992).



IV. Petiticners’ Due Process Rights Are Not Viclated by the
NRC’'s Granting of an Extension of the Time Allotted ifox
CPSES Unit 2 Construction,
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extension for the Unit 2 construction permit on July 28, 1992 has
not been shown to have any effect on Petitioners’ position in
other litigation. Furthermore, pursuant to 10 C.F.R. § 2.109 and
5 U.8.C. § 558(c), even if the NRC had refrained from acting on
TU Electric’'s application for an extension, the existing Unit 2
construction permit would still have remained in effect ./
Therefore, Petiticners’ position in other litigation is no
different now than it would have been in the absence of NRC

action. 1In conclusion, the extension of the construction permit

application for extension. Furthermore, because the
Petitioners have a right to file (and in fact have filed) a
petition to intervene challenging the extension, it is
absurd for them to argue that they have been deprived of any
due process rights related to the extension.

13/ Section 2.109(a) of 10 C.F.R. (1992) provides:

Except for the renewal of an operating license fo:
a nuclear power plant under 10 CFR 50.21(b) or
50.22, if at least 30 days prior to the expiratica
of an existing license authorizing any activity of
continuing nature, the licensee files an
application for a renewal or for a new license for
the activity so authorized, the existing license
will not be deemed to have expired until the
application has been finally determined.

Similarly, 5 U.S.C. § 558(c) (1988) provides in part:

When the licensee has made timely and sufficient
application for a renewal or a new license in
accordance with agency rules, a license with
reference to an activity of a continuing nature
does not expire until the application has been
finally determined by the agency.



has not sffected Petitioners’ other litigation and has not

deprived Petitioners of <ue process .

l4/ Furthermore, even if it is assumed that other litigation
were to be rendered moot, it is not apparent how the
Petitioners would have any due process interests at stake.
In essence, Petitioners appear to be taking the position
thet the NRC may not take any action that relates to a
pending petition before the courts, regardless of how
frivolous or unsupported the petition may be. Obviously,

such a position is absurd on its face. Furthermore, if such

a position were tc be accepted, petitioners could
indefinitely block any action by NRC.



V. CONCLUSION
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For the reasons stated above, the peti.ion to intervene

should not be accepted for filing because the Petition contains

untrue and scandalous allegations.

Additionally, the Petition

should be summarily denied because the Petitioners have not

demonstrated standing to intervene. Finally, the Petition should

be denied since Petitiociers have not specifically identified

aspects of the subject matter of the proceeding which they desire

to litigate.

0f Counsel

Robert A. Wooldridge

Worsham, Forsythe, Samples
& Wooldridge

2001 Bryan Tower,

Suite 3200

Dallas, TX 75201

(214) 9793000

August 14, 1992

Regpectfully submitted,
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ge */ Edgar /-

Steven/P. Frantz

Nancy L. Ranek

Newman & Holtzinger, P.C.
Suite 1000

1615 L Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 2003s
(202) 955-6600

Attorneys for Texas Ut.lities
Electric Company
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Docket No. 50-446
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Censtruction Permit

I hereby certify that copies of “TU Elect: '¢'s Answer
to the Petition for Intervention and Request for Hear ngs by the
Dows” together with a cover letter to the Secretary ~{ the
Commission, was served upon the following persons b, deposit in
the United States mail, postage prepaid and proper.y addressed,
on the date shown below:

Morten B. Margulies, Chairma
Atomic Safety and Licensino Board
U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Ccnmission
Washington, D.C. 20555

James H. Carpenter

Atomic Safety and Licensing Board
U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
Washington, D.C. 20555

Peter S. Lam

Atomic Safety and Licensing Board
U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
washington, D.C. 20555

Janice Moore, Esq.

Marian L. Zobler, Esg

Michael H. Finkelstein, Esq.
Office of the General Counsel

U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
Washington, D.C. 20555



Socrotar¥
U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
Washington, D.C. 20555

Attn: Chief, Docketing Service Section
(Original plus two copies)

Michael D. Kohn

Stephen M. Kohn

Kohn, Kohn and Colapinto, P.C.
517 Florida Averue

Washington, C.C. 20001

R. Micky Dow

Sandra Long Dow

322 Mall Blvd., #147
Monroeville, PA 15146

Office of Commission ppellate Adjudication
U.S., Nuclear Reguiatc y Commission
wa‘hinqton' DlCu 205¢ )

Dated this 14th day of August, 18592,

Yousgy X Sk

Nahcy 1. Ranek

Newman & Holtzinger, P.C.
1615 L Street, N.W.

Suite 1000

Washington, ND.C. 20036
{202 955-6822



UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
TEE U.8. DEPARTHENT OF LABOR
OFFICE OF ADMINIBSTRATIVE LAW JUDGES

In the Matter of:
YVONNE WILKINSON

Complainant
Vs,

Case No. 92-ERA-16
TEXAS UTILITIES

W A W WM W AR WY SR N W A

Respondent

AFFIDAVIT OF DAVID L. ANDRuwp

STATE OF TEXAS

COUNTY OF DALLAS

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, personally appeared
Mr. David L. Andrews, who, after being first duly sworn, deposed
and said as follows:

B My true and correct name is David L. Andrews. i am
presently employed by Texas Utilities Services, Inc. as Director of
Corporate Sacurity.

2. On February 18, 1992, I caused a search to be conducted

of the records of the Crimina. District Clerk, Tarrant Councy,

Texas. That search established that there is a wvarrant for the
arrest of Mr. Dow presently outstanding in Cause $0426207D, pending
in Criminal District Court, #1 in Tarrant County, Teras.

warrant was issued August 30, 1991 in connection with the




prosecution of Mr. Dow on a felony charge of Theft by Check. (See
Attachment 1, copy of outstanding warrant and Attachment 2, copy of
certified court documents relating to criminal charge of felony
theft).

3. Also, I caused a search to be conducted of public records
in Hood County, Texas. That search revealed that on October 14,
1991, a warrant wvas issued for the arrest of Myr. Dow in Cause
§F-91-126. This warrant charged him with the felony offense of
Forgery. (See Attachment 3, certified copy of court documents
relating to wvarrant of arrest in Cause §F-91~126).

4. I also caused a search to be conducted of the public
records of the Clerk of the County Court of Erath Countvy, Texas.
That search establishes that there is a warrant for the arrest oi
Mr. Dow presently outstanding in Cause #2),969% panding in County
Court of Erath County. A warrant was issued on January 9, 1992 on
a misdemeanor charge of Theft over $200.00. (See Attachment 4,
copy of court documents including certification of warrant).

5. In October 1991, I caused a search to be conducted of the
public records of the Federal Records Center in Ft. Worth, Texas.
Review of public records found during that search established trat
on August 17, 1979, Mr. Dow was convicted in U.S. District Court,
Northern Judicial District of Texas, on felony charges relating to
*he breaking and entering of postal wvehicles. Mr. Dow was
sentenced to a Federal prison for this conviction. The cause

number for this criminal action was CR~4-7%~64. (See Attachment §,

AFFIDAVIT OF DAVID L. ANDREWS - Page 2



certified copies of documents relating to criminal action CR~-4-?
64) .

! caused a rearch to be conducted of the public records
of the Tarrant County Court Clerk. Ruview of records fourd during
that search established that on August 2, 1979, Mr. Dow pled guilty
and was convicted in Cause $#0144335 of the criminal offense of

Theft by Check, a nisdemeanor. (See Attachment 6, certified

exenmplified records relating to conviction of Mr. Dow in Cause

A review of the records of the clerk of the District

Tarrant County, Texas established that on January 16,

Dow was convicted in Cause $#11411A of the crimina)

Burglary, and cthat probation vas revoked on September 7
Attachment 7, certified copies of court documents in

Cause #11411A).

I am personally acquainted wit.,, R. Micky Dow and majiled
mail the original letter dated April 8, 1991, (a true
copy is attached as Attachment 8) concerning his

on behalf of individuals with TU Electric.

FURTHER AFFIANT SAITH NOT.

/

A‘,l ’ { V g
!v&;144~£1 CA

David L. Andrews

DAVID L. ANDREWS - Page 3




SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO BEFORE ME on the JJ day of

» F@b"\nrj , 1992,

D. th

otary Public in i for the
Etate of Texas

Cara D. H\cxey

Notary's printed name

My Commission Expires:

AFFIDAVIT OF DAVID L. ANDREWE - Page 4



0426207

CRIMINAL DISTRICT COURT NO. 1

THE STATE OF TEXAS
COUNTY OF TARRANT

TO ANY PEACE OFFICER OF THE
STATE OF TEXAS, GREETINGS:

You are hereby commanded

RICHARD E DOW JR

to take the body of

and him safely

keep, so that you have him before the
CRIMINAL DISTRICT COURT NO. ¢

Ho~oriSle

, in and for

Yerrant County, st the Court House thereof,
in the Ciwy of Fort Worth, instanter,
the State of Texss on a charge by

to  snswer
indictment of

THEFY 750-20000-CK

ALIAS

TARRANT COUNTY

4 "WARRANT

THE STATE OF TEXAS
VS,
RICHARD E DOW JK

OF IN| Jail

[

7373 BRAZOS RIVER
GCRANDBURY TX 112347 W
Issued the 30THyay »’

AUGUST 19 99

8 xmoischemmaaox  felony.

issued wunder my hand and sesl
in the City ot Fort Worth, Texas

of office

this 3OTHd.y of ﬁUGUS'T 19 9’

THOMAS F. HUGHES

CLERK DISTRICT COURTY
TARRANT COUNTY, TE

BvM.M—-. Deputy

FORM D.C 265-CR

Attachment 1 to
Dave Andrews Affidavit

Came to hand on the

day of , 19
and executed on the
day of .
A. D 18
by
“Farrant  County,  Texas .
By , Deputy.
Arrest . ........ s
Mileage .........
MiSClIaNCOUS . . .
e & 1004
sgoh‘l w oo AR T Lo

L

CERTIF
A‘meﬁﬂq;‘f 19 7-2«
%thy . E'fexaa
BY /!

THONAS P, HIGHES
Criminal District Clerk

Deputy
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THE §TATE OF TEXAS
COUNTY OF TARRANT I, THOMAS P, HUGHES, Clerk of the Distriet Courts of muid County of Tarant in the
Sute of Texas, do hereby certify that the within and preceding pages contaln o full somplete, true and exact copy of
M%t. Warrant, Defendants Waliver of Artaignment and o % i

record in Couse No QARE200D  __ The State of Texas, Plaintiff, v
RIGIARD B. DOW, JR.

i m!cnd._lm

Given under my hand and seal of office, 8t Fort Worth, in sadd County of Tarrant, State of Texas, this 880
day of Sctober AD. 1991

THOMAS P, HUGHES
CLERK OF THE DISTRICT COURTS

TAR COUNTY, TEXASY
by Deputy

THE STATE OF TEXAS
COUNTY OF TARRANT| 1 Sharen Wilson Judge of the

i

Criminal Distriet Cours _ Number One of the State of Twxas, presiding In the County

of Tarnant, do Mﬁby certify thai the Deputy Cieri whose nams appeans (o be digned to the above eertificate, it and was
i the time of signing the same, the Deputy Clerk of said District Court therein mentioned, and ¢ such was the proper

person to make said certificate, and that the same b in due form.

Given unde: my hand officially tus 280 day of AD o 81
-

.7ud ¢
TGROMTOL  pisTRICT COURT NOMBER ONE

TARRANT COUNTY, TEXAS

R e
)

THE STATE OF TEXAS

COUNTY OF TMWT}
1, THOMAS P. HUGHES, Clerk of the Distriet Courts, Tarrant County, Texas do

hereby certify Uil e SHAEES NilBO0 Judge of the .. SEimioAl .
Dustrict Court LUTREE ONIR _______ _ of Tarrant County, Texas, is, and was, at time of signing the same, the

duly elested, qualified and acting Judge of sid Court herein mentioned and as such was the proper person 1o make said

certifivate, and that te same is in due form

Given under my hand and seal of office, at Fort Worth, in sid County of Tarrant, State of Texas this __3tb__ day

THOMAS P. HUGHES
CLERK OF THE DISTRICT COURTS

Attachment 2 to




i ’ [ &
« NAME RICHARD E DOW JUR S’Dm OFFENSE THEFT 750-20000~CK
ADDRESS 7373 BRAZOS RIVER DATE 06-29-90  OIRECT
GRANDBURY TX 76048 1.7, BARBARA HOWELL
RACE ¥ SEX M AGE 43 DOB 11=23-47 c.C.
'ecxng”uo..:gog:;t::x{:gg (DATE) 12-04-90 AGENCY TC DIST ATTY OFFICE
TRANSFER: COURT DATE OFFENSE NO. COURT CRCY

INDICTMENRT NO. ea26207 )

"IN THE NAME AND BY AVTHORITY OF THE STATE OF TEKAS:
THE GRAND JURORE OF TARRANT COUNTY, TEXAS, duly elected, tried, empareled,

sworn and charged to inquire of offenses committed in Tarrant County, in the

State of Texas, upon their caths do present 4n and to the * % w & % % # % #
CRIMINAL DISTRICT COURY NO. 1 of said County that * %
RICHARD E DOW JR hereinaftir called Defendant, in the County of

Terrant and State aforesaid, on or about the 29TH day of JUNE 1570 |, did

THEN AND THERE INTENTIONALLY AFPROPRIATE, BY ACQUIRING AND OTHERWISE EXERCISING
CUNTROL OVER, PROPERTY, TO-WIT: BTORE MERCHANDISE, OF THE VALUE OF $7%0 OR
MORE, BUT LESS THAN $20,000 FROM THE OWNER, BARBARA MOWELL, WITHOUT THE
;:S;g:;Vl CONSENT OF THE OWNER AND WITH INTENT TO DEPRIVE THE OWNER OF THE

Y,

ENHANCEMENT COUNT:

PARAGRAFH ONE: AND, IT IS FURTHER FRESENTED IN AND TO SAID CGURT, THAT PRIOR 10
THE COMMISSION OF THE PRIMARY OFFENSE, THE SAID DEFENDANT, ON THE 7TH DAY oF
SEFTEMBER , 1979, IN THE CRIMINAL DISTRICY COURT NUMBER FOUR OF TARGANT COUNTY,
TEXAS, IN CAUSE NUMBER 11441A, WAS CONVICTED OF A FELONY, TO-WIT: BURGLARY,
AND THE SAID CONVICTION BECAME FINAL PRIOK TO THE COMMISSION OF THE PRIMARY
OFFENBE,

ENHANCEMENT COUNT:

FARAGRAFH TWO: AND, IT IS FURYHMER PRESENTED IN AND TO SAID COURT, THAT FRIOR
TO Th. COMMISSION OF THE PRIMARY OFFENSE, THE SAID DEFENDANT, UNDER THE NAME OF
RICHARD E. "MICKY® DOW, ON THE 17TH DAY OF AUCUST, 1979, IN THE UNITED STATES
COURT FOR NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS FORT WORTH DIVISION, IN CAUSE NI'MEER
CR-4-79-64, WAS CONVICTED OF A FELONY, TO-WIT: ( NSPIRACY, AND BREAKING AND
ENTERING POSTAL VEMICLES AND AIDINC AND ACETTING, in VIOLATION OF TITLE 16,

U, 8. C., SECTIONS 371 AND 1705 AND 2., AND THE SAID CONVICTION BECAME FINAL
PRIOR TD THE COMKIGEION OF THE PRIMARY OFFENSE;

Filed (Clerk's use on!

FILED
THOMAS P. HUGHES, DIST, CLERK
TARRANT COUNTY, TEXAS

DEC 11 1830

]
Tmm_gﬁ i
AGAINST THE PEACE AND DIGNITY OF THE STATE. By f Deputy

| (:277144— 42204/14)3/
| R .
o Criminal District Attorney é F&cmn of the Grand Sury

INDICTMENT - ORININAI




REC BOND = 15000.00

04262607
CRIMINAL DISTRICT COURT NO.

THE STATE OF TEXAS

COUNTY OF TARRANT FILED ., .

TO ANY PEACE OFFICER OF THE Wil B0M 0. o
STATE OF TEXAS, GREETINGS:

§ B
You are heteby commanded 1) tak¥! Yhe P Body of
RICHARD E DOW JUR nd kim safely
av’-..— n
keep, s0  thst you have him before the Honorsble

CRIMINAL DISTRICT COURT NO. ' n 4nd for

Tarrant County, at the Court House thereof,
in the City of Fort Worth, instanter, to snswer
the State of Texss on & chargs by indictment oi

THEFT 750-20000-C¥

CID-0044727
ALIAS

No. 04262970

TARRANT COUNTY

WARRANT ©,

'8
THE STATE OF TEXAS

VS,

RICHARD E DOW JR
7373 BRAZOS RIVER
GRANDRLURY TX 142347 4

Issued the 13THday ot

DECEMEER 18 90

AN MRt Nnr felony,

1S3Ue.  under my hand snd seal of office
in th' Qity of Fort Worth, Taxes

this 13TH dsy of DECEHFER‘ 19 99
THOMAS P, W' HES

CLERK DISTRICT COURT
TAR}ANT COUNTY, TEXAS .

A

FORM D C 265.C R

Cama to hand on 1ne
day of .18
and evecuted on the
day of .
'

Tarrant  County,  Texas .
By
Arrest ... ... .. L

Mileage . ... ...
Miscellaneous

. Deputy,

0ES ¢ 1o
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NO. 426,207-D

THE SETATR OF TEXAS X IN THE CRININAL DISTRICT COURT
Vs, < NUMBER ONE OF
RICHARD EMERY DOW, JR. x TARRANT COUNTY, TEXAS

DEFENDANT 'S WAIVER OF ARPAIGNMENT
TO THE HONORABLE JUDGE OF THE COURT:

COMES NOW Defendant i{n this case, and waives arraignment in

the case, and would show the Court the following:
I.

Defendant has Dbeen furniched a copy of the charging
instrument, and Defendant's name is correctly spelled. Defendant is
represented by Andrew Ottaway. For the purposes of arraignment,
Defendant waives the reading cf the charging instrument and enters
a plea of not guilty.

WHEREFORE, PREMISES CONSIDEREL, Defendant prays that the Court
accept and approve this wvaivar cf arraignment,

Respectfully submitted,

Andrev Ottawa

ATTORNEY AT LAW

2320 Plaza Drive North

Granbury, Texas 76048
FILED (817) 879-1.104

£RK
AS P, HUGHES, DIST, G
TARRANT COUNTY, TEXAS

JAN ?1 1991 oo 18343880

Time... ATTORNEY POR DEFENDANT
B Deputy !



CLRTIFICATE OF SWRVICE

I hereby certify that a true and correct aopy of this document
has been handed to the attorney representing the State.

DATED: January ___, 1991,

ew Ottaway
ORDER

On this the 2[ day of ¢ 199), this wWaiver
©f Arraignment was considered by %he Court and apprevep.
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FLPR EREY Ma‘,ﬂny
: | ArAmANGUAOND / tser P rt0
wareANt NO. 04 270207 D ONDNO. DETT

FILEY KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS.
. ol!ﬂ% j t h “._ h )

Ter we, J . ! . o8 Pingipo
ong RRAIL BONE e frmly BOuna unio the State of Texas, i 1he Penc | fum
of Fuf g . " Lo ) DOWARS, for pev. ant of which sum, wel
ond truly to be mode. ord oF WO SXDONsES 1Nt M e NCume by five et o other Peace OMcers
n PAncipal in the event conditions of th & e VOIOTOd. we 00 bInd ounelves o i hels executon
ong renons, lointly ond se 5.\ th condtion of the atove 6 tha: whesos soid

‘ (ndictment). o+ “.ad i the [ e Court
- of a (felony (hdemeens). 10 wil

e OMerde

fox thel persons

.

Toxcs,

m.nmmmmwwmmmmwmwmuauCounovw-o
M.Umomb:mmmmmm.nmul‘mn 1oim if Aow In vacation 1o be held o

mmmumcm.hmma Texas, orddt . SOl well g 1nly moke 1he i peronal

Gppearance before sakt Court. In sk County, Siate of X8, 08 well a8 belore Ony othe! Count 1o which the same
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cmum»mwmmammwuw'wommmmmnywwmvmtoumam
cu.wlmmmuemuw.mnwmoommmmwmmpmcwm
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MY Stephenvite  SIATE: Texos ey STEQHEAN lh b e
P 26401 TELEPHONE:  (817) 0454708 s Texa S

sureTY_. 1 ook i i 0/
ADDRESS: TELEPHONE () 65~ 3492
cmy: STATE
ne; TELEPHONE: (__ ) ' 7 el pn ﬁ..; /,Uu Aond /42
s )
QAT OF SUREES ;0 " & o “zﬁ‘
THE STATE OF TEXAS 0 ¢ Betd Bie &,o«z‘a,,

0 Mtoxe.dumhwmwmvbwmmmm
ﬂ%&em‘m (TW.SETHEAMOUN. . £ BOND). affer Seaucting 1om our property oll ihat
which &

aawmCommmnwmofmltmnmmmw*fnmmdoloobnmm
Gesoriphon vinether INNVIGUS! o securtty debls, Lng o ‘atistying Of encUMBINCes UPON OuT PXODBMY . Whieh Ore

¥ b have property In the Jate of T Mt 10 execution, worth__
&Aﬁm&s«a ¢ e (TWICE THE AMOUNT OF BOND)

ORIGINAL

" aeby ooy (hat the Sureties whose

Mol Ore subacibed 16 this bong are
101 th amount Themaor, and If this bond
was submi led 1o me for appvovel, | would
accep! saome.

T — .

SHERIPY, v COUNTY, TEXAS
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80 ANT COUNTY . ERCRF
RICHARD E JR W/ 1

SR TR STRUEILD, siper
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1 ¥ LCER
‘ N GREEN/CORRECTIONS/OFF
:37:.;:?:100 COMM/EON CMTETOSR  1822CDT

QUTPUY MBO 063, FROW 6761 FOR FWBZ

= @ energe by Indlctment of
_ THEFY 750-20000~uk & REP

18719790 1B1B2

Isrued

BONL

S04AZL207D THEFT OVER $750 UNDER

T b oW

the ¥y e

DECEMEERg 90

8 AlsderiesnbY X talony.

iisued  under my Fand and sesl of office
in the City of Fort Weorth, Texss

this 1.7&'"’ of DECEHB’EF’. ?0
THOMAS P, HUGHES

CLERK DISTRICT COURT
TARRANT CO TEXAS

By b . Doputy

Came to hand on the

dey of

and Q'I”U!N on the
o

day
by
i arran

dy

Arrest .
Mileage

.........

Miscellansous . .

Youws!l .,

DEC 1 3 190 o
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THE STATE OF TEXAS
ve.
RICHARD EMERY DOW, JR.
(AKA/Mickey Dow)

BERRR AR R A RR R R R SRR R AR AR AR AR A RA R R R AR A AR AR AR AR R AR AR AR R AO Rt RdRdRddiann

~.

COMPLAINT
OFFENSE

Forgery =~ Making
RARRAR AR AR R RAR R AR R R AR AR R AR AR R R AR R AR R AR AR AR AR R R AR R R d Rt
FILED
l4th day of October, 1991
GEORGE SMITH
JUSTICE OF THE PEACE

Hood County, Texas
Precinct 3 & 4

RARRARAA AR A RARARR R R R R R AR R R RAR AR AR R AR R AR AR R AR R AR bbb kb kR d ARt d s

STATES WITNESSES
RONNIE BLASINGAME

I, GEORGE E. §MITH, Justice of the Peace,
Precinct 42 4, o hereby certity this to be a
true and COIract cogy rom my records.

. M:% Attachment 3 to
/_0 42/ M Dave Andrews Affidavit

DATE GEORGE E SMITH




Nuu-ﬂAllAu' OF ARREATY I P Cowt~Chuwu )
X e ...-v""lcm..bﬁ{ %wm T R T

THE STATE OF TEXAS
To any Sherifl, Constable or Peace Officer of the State of Texas, Greeting
‘ You Are Hoereby Commanded to arrest u’.u.u’_l LELLL L‘;‘b‘ u’l‘.‘ (AXAIMICK ('...’-lz‘“h‘.)

HIM ’ .

# 1o be fovad in your County and l-ll!o!

belore me, & Justice of the Peace in and for Precinet No 3=4 Place No.. 1 of HOQR..

County, Texas, st my office in ROCM ONE, THE (‘("\‘}‘Y'X'}'_”.“l.\f‘vl.1 GRANBURY , TEXAS —
(Lovsitos of Onlcs
in suld Coonty, lmmediately, theo and there to snswer the Stute of Tevus for wn offcnse against the laws of said

State. to-wit FORGERY MAKING v P N A =L .

l of whicl, ofiense he RICHARD EMERY DOW, Nj is sccused by the written
(AKA/MICKEY DOW)
complaint, under oath, of _ RONNIE BIASINGAME filed before me
(INrwe ol (annphnbomn
Hereln Fail Not. but « [ this writ mak: due return, showing how you have execuled the same !"
Witness my official signature, this A4S0 . Q&T"Ey . L1090
/ Wd‘ Z */4’?“‘ e Justice of the Peace,
(lt('mn. Nao.d=4 Plee No IRE HOQO e County, Texas j
- e e e Saie L Sake _ SLERE L Sos T L R e e T e Seb e ke MR

L. GEORGE E SMITH, Justice of the Peace
Precinct #3-4, do hereby certify this 10 be a
true and correct copy from my records A
4 c A 4

10-i5-9/ /. ;zdmu;, i P

-’

s - PN - re—

DATE GEORGE ... SMITH




AGAINST THE PEACE AND DIGNITY OF THE STATE

nant

SWORN TO AND SUBSCRIBED BEFORE ME BY RONNIE BLASINGAME, a credible
person, this 14th day of October, A.D. 1991.

Mwm

Precinct 3

.



COMPLAINT NO. Fzﬂrlg‘

R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R AR R R R R R

IN THE NAME AND EY THE AUTHORITY OF THE STATE OF TEXAS

Y, Ronnie Blasingame, being duly sworn, do state upon my cath that

I have good reason to believe and do believe based on the following
information:

1. That Mickey Dow did sign checks on Braxos River Acres Homeowners
Association without proper authorization.

2. That Mickey Dow was not and is not on the signature card for
Brazos River Acres Homeowners Association.

3. That Mickey Dow did forge the name of George Shaw and Richard
McGregor on check numbers 115, 116, 118, 262, and 294,

4. That these checks were forged by Mickey Dow as reported in a
statement this Investigator obtained from Danny Pratt.

$. That the total amount of checks forged by Mickey Dow is $1,185.95.

and I charge that heretofore, and bafore the nnklnz and filing of
this complaint, on or about the 21st day of May, 1991, in the Count
of Hood and State of Texas, RICHARD Y DOW, JR. (AKA/Mickey Dow{
Defendant, did then and there intentionally, with intent to defraud
and harm another, make & writing so it purported to Le the act of
Frank S8haw and Richard McGregor, who did not authorice the act and
sald vriting was a check of the tenor following:

y)’ ‘. \:""M ’.‘_“ -'-(;y oL : : | B “116
o a = ~BR AZO‘ RIV R ACR mma \E‘E\_W ER SR § R AW

~ \” ‘ "
- “ . m A -
.f: s:-w\ ;. .M ~ ,' - p- f Q 1 ' W-
~ ¥ o ot TOU SRR i, ™) - 2)
S T A ., " .-' e Yy ‘\\‘ ’. .—A
Ly '!’:‘nvo.\Vo - :".c%’.‘:_ . : - ": . :0 W e
-

-2 i ¥ L oL N> o ‘e N o - 3 u m_ 1 '
AL 10 THE \ > $: 5GO. |

\

| i B - O \? o~
.‘r_.' l‘ -~ ﬂjrl( &\L L 2 __.b.._‘QOLLARS !
s i |
Ol ||| B
R & -f\roomssv\/r;uo?;uovnuoonuzr #0000036000¢ |

- - T e V L L™ s



WARAANT FOR ARREST
WARRANT NUMBER ol [ Yés

IN THE NAME OF AND BY THE AUTHORITY OF THE STATE OF TeExa

To any Bheriff, Constable, or Pessace Offticer ot trhe State of
Texas, Greetings

You sre hersby commanded to arrest R, MICKEY DUW, f to be
found i1n vour County and brang R, MIGKEY DOW, before wme. (TRINTY
JUDGE , in and fTor Erath County, Texas at my office An
STEPHENVILLE, TEXAS, 1n sa)rd County, imwadistely, then and there
Lo answer the State of Yexas for an offense agaimst the Jaws of
said State to-wit

THEFYT OVER 8200.00 UNDER $750.0C0

ot which otTtense, the Defandant is aooused Dy n=
conpiaint ang information, under oath of PHIL N.UMUY
before me, BILL HATLEY, COUNTY JUDGHE

Herein fail not, but of this warrant*makm due return showing
how yOou have execyuted sane

Witness official signature of “his the SBfdsy of
- - B.AZ-.' S,

BILL M. HAILEY

ERATH COUNTY JUOGi
ERATH COUNTY. TEXAS

DEFICER'S RETURN
CAME ju TO MAND op _0"/2,(,-, N 1990

O'‘clock ang execy ted
e . 1990 ct A, © clook,
.rres!inq the Nithin name ODefencant st
ERATH COUNTY, TEXAS

SHERIFF, CONSTABLE OR PEACE QFFICER,
STEPHENVILLE, ERATH COUNTY, TEXAS

YL ..
DEPUTY.,

Attachment 4 t
Dave Andrews Af
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WELDA CROCEETE, Clack of the County Oaut of Reath
a

WARRANT POI ARREST,THEFY O/§200 U/§750
WAKRANT POR ARNEST, SUREYYTOFF BOND

In Cause No. 21,969 Syled: :-m-ns

RICHARD DOM.
as the saxe appears in

Crimioal Court Minutes of Erath County, Temas.

uim--{mﬂ“mldmmnqotﬂuh
Stephenv!lle,Taxas this the L9th dey of FEBEUARY. ... 1% 92 ¢

DA CROCKETT
Clerk of tha Comty Court
.!nth>°ﬂl‘Qﬁ|"lll

W)

=% TOTAL PAGE.004 =x



ATTACHNENT § TO
DAVE ANDREWE WFFIDAVIT



NATIONAL ARCHIVES AND RECORDS ADMINISTRA TION

So all to whom these presents shail come. Breeting:

vested in me by the A

B« virtue of the authority

hrvist of the United |

"»:'.!'t 1 cortsif n his hehaifl

jer the seal of the National A rchives and Records A dminisirstion. that the stiached repmductiond s) is

rue and comrect copy of documents in his cu utiody

[ mGma e !
‘3 e ,

4 -4
| NAMT AND ADDRE RS OF OF PORITORY

FEDERAL RECORDS CENTER
P 0 BOX 6215

L___FMBT WORTH, TEXAS 76115 |

WA FORM 1304c (10-09)




URITED STATES DISTRICT COURT u
HORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

1 4 ‘Lt
FORT WO! *H DIVISION Doyl *:
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA §
V8. § CRede79-64
ICHARD E. "MICKY" DOW § .
[n': ’\’ o
' e Al

MOTION TO MODIFY SENTENCR
Defendant, RICHARD E. "MICKY'" DOW, states:

1. 7This wotion ia filed und r Rule }5 of the
Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, to modify the sentence
imposed by this Court on August 17, 1979,

¢. The Judgment and Commitment Order of this Court
a copy of which is attached hereto and zade & part hereof as
Exhibit A, provides:

"IT I8 FURTHER ORDERED that said senterice

shall run consacutively with sentence defen-

dant 4{s presently serving."

3, Defendant believes it was not the intention of
the Court to have the Judgment and Committment Order read
as written and therefore requests it be modified to dalete

such langusge as contained in the said paragreph,

By Attorney,

1300 Summit Avenue
Fort Worth, Texas 76102
Telephone (817) 332-1172

Counsel for Defendant

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICEL

1 HEREBY CERTIFY that a copy of the above Motion
has been furnished to the United States Atvowrney's office,
310 U, &, Courthouse, Fort Woirth, Texas 76102,

Fort Worth, Texas, Lhit;zz__dly of Septanmber, 1979,

Dk, biolara




Un'ted 3 les District Court
NOKTUERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS '

!

5 ; R L L
; AT RICARD £, “IOKY" Dov Ohels 19k
. . L-u----n----------l U““'“’!-L -

rf. ""q’mﬂﬂ'}‘w”ﬂ»mﬁ'ffﬂﬂﬁ'”-mﬁ’-*‘ N oy ot AL SO Rk
oy TR R R LR TR OIS [ O PR T R R ER U IR I EE E S T o T
F “”“. “‘;‘bbd‘&& LL‘ML‘-«‘J‘“&L‘..:.» s ik kot o Vb . Crmeet e ‘-. nu.ntltu-’-cm -oJJ“-
: In the presence &f thie anotney Tor the povernment . W Ry WeR
1 e elendant appearsd in pecgan o this date . L= AUCUST 1 1%

o pouiL | L WITHOUT COUNSEL  Meweve Ui spurt afviied defendant of dight 16 dovind nd 2ibed wheine golendant dubic)
| Dave covnsel appuinied by 1M tourl and (e elendent thersupun walved dnliiance of .

L) WITH COUNSEL (o o MILS @0 Jabarix, SONSEoABPRANIA o v = w0 4w 10 m 4 20 o o b

| LdU GUILTY, ong the court being wathified that L I NOLO CONTORDERE,  Lard NOT GUILTY
LA Vhere s o factual bash for the ples,

! -——-\ beeed NOT GUILTY. Delendant b dischiarped
.

Thate belng o findinglomdad o1 0 x ooy 80 te Counts 3 sod 1.

i ant b 80 s ehpged of the offensels) of Conspiracy, and Breaking and Entering Pos:
FINDING & D?%*:&::‘gﬁ:ﬂﬂ?iiﬂ u's'f'):b‘mu.. in viclation of Title 18, V.5.C., lnuon:‘ :
JUBLMENT .’ : [ W =1 RS MR

A f* R T N

‘A « ol L LA
Y i
' e - l PRl
F “ { e f 1 :
. . 4 o »
N Yhe couit aked wheitar Glendan had anyihing 18 say why vy hould net b p & Mecaunt o 0l FiSlent caust 10 the tonn
i shuwn, O Applersd 10 Ihe couil, the sourt adivlped e defentant gulliy i eharged and savicied and woried that The @-fenda
Pereby Lemmitied 16 (hi sustody o Ihe Aviorney Ganecsl B Ml BIheloed rapreseniaiies (o inpriienmani 1or § peried of four (4)

z::'r‘: Ia Count 1, and one (1) year on Count 7 to run concurrently with sentence o

- e — —

o seid sentence shall run consocutively with sentence
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pp £, MISKY' DOX “““,*‘-‘\ NML'«%\ JR., CLERK

Deputy
casMivAL NO. 4210084 .
INDICTMENT! 16 COUNTS! 13 U.8.C. § 495 and e Porging, Uttering,

and Aiding and Abotttnz 8 U.B.C.
{ $ 1706 and 2 ~ Possession of Stolen
Mail and AL*’ g and Abetting, 18 U.B.C.
§ 1705 « Bre .ing and Entering FPostal
Vehicles and Atélng and Abetting.

5¢§§ngn %g!&%;!:
years, consecutive to prior Btate

sentence.

R ¥ ? '
oun onspiracy
Count 7 = Bresking and Entering into Postal Vehicles

PENALTY: Cour 1 « §10,000 and 5 years
Count 7 =« §1,000 and 3 years

IM E ¥
or Counts an - 51} 000 and B years,

which cOuld be made to run consecutive to
previously .mposed Btate of Texas sentence of
2 years,

ELEMENTE OF

THE OFFENSE: Eosential elements which must be proved beyond a
a reasonable doubt in order to establish the offense
alleged in Count 1 of the Indictment are as follows:

1. That the conspiracy described in Count 1
was wilfully formed and was existing at or
about the time alleged:

2. Tha: at least one of the congpirators named
thereafter knowingly committel at least one
of the overt acts charged in Count 1 +f the
Indictment, at or about the time and place
alleged;

| 3. That the accused wilfully became & menmber
©f the conspire~'; and

4. That the overt acts set forth in the
Indictment were knowingly done in furtherance
of some object or purpose of the conspiracy,
as charged,

FACTS ) At the beginning of Janvary, 19737, the .. sndant,
RICRARD E. DOW an¢ Ronald Kosh, who wer:e then
living at the residence of Kathy Perez at 7581
Hoochie lane in Fort wWorth, Texas, had a conversttion
during which they discussed ways of maling money.
During the discuseion the {Jea of stea) ‘g mail

FACTUAL RESUME -~ Page 1



|
|

|

FLEMENTS® OF
THE CFFENSE:

FACIE

f.om malt trucks and cashing checks obtained in
this manner was discussed. Subsequently, on
numerous occasions, during the menth .t January,
1979, the defendant, RICHARD E. DOW, and Ronald
Kosh broke into nine mail trueks 4n the Fort Worth
area. The defendant, RICHARD %, “MICKY" DOW, and
Ronald Xosh subsequently met with Thencia R,
Coulson and lee E., Williams at the MAACD Faint

and Body Shop in Fort worth, Texas, where o
conversatlon touok place corcerning the disposition
of checks stolen frum the mail trucke.

Bubseguently, on or about January 30, 197§, the
dc!onllnt. flcuARD E. DOW, had a ncottn! with Renald
Kosh, Thenola R, Coulson and Lee E. WKilliams at
Willis Used Cars. Furthermore, duttn; the period
beginning on or about Jenuary 30, 1979, to approxi-
mately February 2, 1379, the defendant, RICHARD E.
*MICKY" DOW, Thenola R, Coulson, Ronald Kosh,
Herman Webb, Jr,, Dorati §. Revada and lee E,
Williams had several m..tin!l at several locations
in the Fort Worth srea; ingluding & 1 hall at
Bessie and New York Streets in Fort Worth, Texas,
an? had conversations concerning the cashing of
stolen clecks.

During the time period set forth above nine postal
vehicles were broken into, and approximately 2,000
pieces of mai! were stolen, Some of the mail wae
subseguently distrib.ted by RICHARD E, “"MICKY"

pOW and Ronald Kosh to other co~defendants,

some ©f the mail wes thrown sway, and many of the
checks stolen were cashed by RICHARD DOW

anéd the other co~defendants. The automobile

being used was & 1976 Dodge Aspen, red with a dark
maroon top having Texes licenss number JDG 829,
belonging to Kathy Perez. The break«ins stopped
after Ronaid fosh was apprehended by the Fort Worth
Folice Department on or about February 2, 1979, while
he was attempting to sell two credit cards which
haé been obtained in one of the nine break-ins
described above.

The essential elements which must be proved beyond
& veasonable doubt in order to establish the offense
rlleged in Count 7 of the Indictment are &s follows:

J. That the deferdant, "MICKY" DOW, did wilfully
and maliciously break into United States Postal
Service Vehicle No. 314108, or cause to be
broken inte the said vehicle, as alleged in the
Indictment;

2. That the United States Postal Service Vehicle
No. 314108 which wae broken into as #lleged
in the Indictment, was then and there .einj
used for the delivery of mail on & mail route
of the United States Postal Service.

RICHARD E, "MICKY" DOW, driving the above
describesc avtomcbile which belonged tu
Kathy Perez, and Ronald Kesh, smashed

FACTUAL RESUME = Page 2



'f"x"’J’ the fron, left window of the postal vehicle,

and romoved 8 guantity of mail from seid vehicle,
on or about January 30, 1979, 4n the Fort

et Weryh Bivision of the Porthern District of
) Texes.
YERSONAL
] HISTORY ?:sgaan . "MICKY® DOW waé born on November 23,
I CRIMINAL
’ RECORD ¢ RICHAED E. "MICKY" DOW is currently on prebation

for a ten year perioéd for buxglory committed in
Terrant County in January, 1979

$TATVE Defc rdent appesrs on writ.

FACTUAL RESUNE = Page 3
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o STATES OF AMERICA MGISTRATE'S DOCKET NO.» __

Vs,

RICHARD E. “MICKY'" DOW CRIMINAL NO.: CRek=79:64
MOTION TO WITHEsAW _AS COUNSEL ﬁr‘ﬁv .

70 THE HONORAELE JUDGE OF SAID COURT: '?:f

NOW COMES MILTON £. MABERER, JR., Counsel of Record for RICHARD
£. "MICKY" DOW, Defendant, and would file this his Motion to Withdraw
as Counsel of Record, and as grounds therefor would show the Court
as foliovwe.

- O

Thet the Deferant, RICHARD E. "MICKY" DOW, wes arre‘gned
on June 22, 1979, st whivh time this Attorney stated to the Henorable
Court that he had not been retained as counsel by the Defendant,
RICHARD £. "MICKY" DOW, and on that day the Honorable Court entered
s not guilty plea on behalf of the Defendant, RICMARD E. "MICKY" DUV,

11,

This Movant would alse show and alleps that he has made no
sdditional appearances on behslf of the pDefendant, RICHARD E. "MICKY"
DOV and that the Defendant does not have the funds available to hire
an attorney of his choice.

111,

"nis Movant would also show that he has not filed and entry of
sppearance of counsel on behalf of the Defendant, RICHARD E. "MICKY" DOW.

1v.

Thet to permit Movant to withdraw as counsel of record will not
prejudice the Defendant or the United Stetes, and will not unduly delay
the trial of this cause,

WHEREFORE, PREMISES CONSIDERED, this Movant respectfully requests
this Honorable Court to release him as counsel of record for the

Defendant and discharge him of any further responsibilities in this ‘cause.

OURE TARTAGLIA & HavEREn
ATTORKEYD AT Law
B
B S
FORT wDRTw TEVAL TR

- —
LA Ll

- —— . § S A n







DOCKETED

¥ THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT F IL: E.m'
yoR THE NORTHERN _ISTRICT OF TEXAS JUK 24 s
FORT WORTE DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA {
VE. 1 CRIMINAL WO, 4=79<64 l
1
RONALD KOSH i
RICHARD E. "MICKY" DOW 1
THENOLA R, *7.R,“COULBON 1
HERMAN WEBB, JR. ]
DORATI 6. "CHUCK® REVADA 1
LLE E. WILLIANME 1
ORDER

on motion of the United States for the issuance of
a writ of habeas corpus ad proseguendum directing that RICHARD E.
'MICKY" DOW, defendant herein, be prought before this Court
for proceedings in above numbered cause,

the Clerk of this Court is hereby ORDERED to issue

a writ of habeas corpus ad proseguendum directed to the
United Gtates Marshal for the Northern District of Texas,
gheriff, Tarrant Zounty Jail, directinc said cfficers to
have said defendant before this Court at Fort Worth, Texas,
on June 22, 1979, at 5.0C A.M., and upon the conclusion of
511 proceedings in this cause to return said defendant under
safe and secure conduct to said place of original custody or

pther appropriate suthority.

figned on 3%: ol ‘gzz

- ————— - ME————— e L L

S —————————. ———————

L T VI e NETRE= Tavar—
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: ATAICY COURY
NMY=I=N"O|MMC" OF YErat

| FILED

JUN20 Y9
MEFTED sy
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT ' BiPuTY

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
FORT WORTH DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

VE. CRIMINAL NO. 4-7%«64¢
RONALD KOSH

RICHARD B, "MICKY* DOW
ThtNOu un .Tllv . COUL'QN
HERMAN WEBB, OR,

DORATI 6. “CHUCK" REVADA
LEE E. WILLIAMS

i e —

MOTION FOR WRIT OF MABEAS CORFUE AD PROSEQUENDUM

The United States moves for &n order directing the
Clerk of this Court to issue a writ of habeas corpus ad
Prosequendum for RICHARD E. "MICKY" DOW, defendant herein,
who is presently in custody of Sheriff, Tarrant County Jail directing
that sald defendant be brought to Fert Worth, Texas, to
APpear before this Court on June 22, 1979, at §:00 AN, to
answer to the charges pending herein, and directing that
after the conclusion of all proceedings in this cause that
said defendant be returned under safe and secure conduct to
said place of original custody or other &pPpropriate authority,

KENNETH J. MIGHELL
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

ﬁ,&?r ar einec Plaiisied
Apsistent United States Attorney
310 U, 8. Courthouse

Fort Worth, Texas 76102

Telephone: B17-334-2327
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CRDER FIXING DATES

DISTRICT Cou \

STRICT OF TEXAS
Vision

MAGISTRATE DOCKET RO.
CASE X0,

e e ——

CRIMINAL KO, CRebe79«64

DOCKETED

The Speedy Trial Act of 1974 (18 U.8.C,
Delinquency Act (18 U.5.C. 5036, 5037), and t
sl Texas for Achieving Prompt Disposition of
snd the Bpeedy Trial Act of 1974 filed on Jun
share as & common gosl winisizing undue delay
eriminal casee; to achieve these goals, the ¢
seasurenent of certain time perlods become ot

1.
Mrpert,

NORTHERK DISTRICT OF TEXAS

Refendant was admitte

(8) Arrested _by Deputy United Stetes Mar

J161 et seq), the Federal Juvenile

he Amended Plan for the Northcrn District
Ceiminal Cases Under Rule S0(b), F.R.Cr.VP.,
e 11, 1976 as Miscellensous Order No, 77
and furthering the prompt disposition of
eteraination of certain detes and the
gnificant.

(t) Arrivel

——

2. Initial or first court appesaranc

June 20, 1979

e before Magistrate MeClinchev on

11. FROCEEDINGS CONDUCTED BY ARRESTING

PISTRICT

1. Arrasted

2.

e

Custody of United Stotes Marshe

1-

initial or first court appearance

4. Varrvant of Removal issued

111,

FROCEEDINCS TO BE CONDUCTED 3Y DISTRICT COURT

|

Arraigneent in your cese will be held in the United States District
Courtroom, 419 U, 8, Courthouse, Fort Worth, Texes,

You are heredby ordered

to be present with your attorney for such arraigament at 9:00 A.M. on Friday,

June 22, 197%

Trial Seiting -~ A tentative tri

-
9:30 A M, on Monday,

July 9 .. 1891¢

al dote 15 scheduled in your case &t

IV, Defendent's Age E?

/

Date of Birth R 3

Moy (997

ENTERED this _ 20th doy of June

s 49128

Your cose will Lo hendled exgeditiously,
i that your vights be full, protected ond th
ny time limit set afford toe little tine for
sre for a court appearance, the need for add
Jurt by motion,

u,\'nco?’m-zs mcxs)(mt

hovever, the Court's paramount interest
at justice be done in your casc; should

you and your attorney to adeguately pre-
Itional time should be made known to the
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10% Deposit

Cash or Surely
Evﬂ:-l

RICHARD B, "MICKY"
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BAIL REFORM ACT FORM NO. 2

U
”"'EMD’SYR -
£ osrEl oo
IL k[(‘ro;
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT £ N e,
NORTMERN... Distriet of . TEXAS & "y
FORT WORTH DIVISION d
CRIMINAL NO. CR=4-79-64 tc’t;.,{
“ieh Magistrate's Docket No, -
Otey3;
. Catt Nb: s
bow ORDER BPECIF : METHODS AND
i O ol " CONDITION, ' RELEASE
Delendant
Part L—Preferred Methods of Relense DUBKEI[U
It s hereby ORDERED that the above-named defendant be released, provided
hoid

it 2%
{ x Tt that he promises to appear at all scheduled hearings a8 required,

( ) that he will execute abond® binding hims+!f to pay the United States the sum of
— T ) in the event that he falls to appear a8 required.

[NOTE ! The judicis) ofMeer 1o required (o release the defemiant by one of Lthe above methads uniess
he Actermines thiat pueh 8 release will not ressonsbly sssure the pppenrance of the defendant sa required,
Ie the avent sueh & determination is made, the judicial officar shall, wittor in lieu of or in addition to the
shove miethods of releane, impose the Rest evndiian of release lisled Lelpw whith will ressonsbly sssure
the appearance of the purgon for tiial. 1 wo aingle sondivien gives (hut ssdurance, sny combinalion of
canditions may be wsed.)

Part 11~ “onditions of Relense

Upen finding that release by one of the above methods will not by itself reasonably as-
gure Lthe appearance of Lhe defendant, it is hereby FURTHER ORDERED that thie defend-
ant be released on the condition (8) checked below

( ) (1) The defendant is placed in the custody of
(Name of perso. or organitation)
(Address)
(City and State) Tel, No.
who agrecs (a) to supervise the defendant in accordance with conditions 2 and 5 as enecked
below, (b) to use every effort to assure the appearance of the defendant at &ll acheduled
hearings before the United Statos Magistrate or Court, and (c¢) to notify the Magistrate
or Court immediately in the event the defendant violates any sondition of his release or
cishppears, .

—

Signed: T

( % & (2) The defendan' will comply with ?nch of the following conditions ‘Defendant
_shall pot trevel beyond the Btate of Texas, without firet obtaining

“writtes permissicn from the Coutt,

e 42 S ——t 3 o e+ — — S

! ) (3) The defendant will exocute a bond® binding himsel! to pay to the United
States the sum of e dollars (§ ) and will deposit in the registry of Lhe court

the sum of o, dollars (§ P e« DEING DOt mMore than 10%
(6aeh » wewrtu )

of the amount of the bond, such deposit to be returned upon the court's determinatich that
the defendant has performed the conditions of his release.

{ ) (4) The defendant will execule & bond® in the amount of oo dollars
% ) either secured by the undertakings of sufficient s_lvent sureties or by the
deposit of an equal amount of cash or other security in lieu thereo!,

*This form s mot ¢ bond und does not erevie in the defendunt or surety ¢ binding finuncial obliguiion io the
United Switea The execution of un Appewance Bond [ femmidacty | b necenwry
obligetion o wlivch




) (5) (o) The delendant will be relensed From oo 58 00
s 08 CORdition that he return te custody ot the specilied time ot
Beeliy b o o e
such ploce of confinement se the United Steter Marshal shall designate

Mhet Conditions (% ) (5) (k) The defendant agrees that he will comply with the following sther condic
Py tions of release: . Dofendant shall keep bhis sttormey fully sdviesd of his
Jyheresboute ot a1 tAmes 80 that the stiorney ey coptect toe

gefondant ot all resscpable times. Defendsut shell vot viclete smy

A0S0, SRACE OK RRSOTAL AMWRAo o e e e ——

(NOTL: A delendant lor whom sondinions of ralobse sis imposed and whe aliar twaniy lour houre
fram ks time ol the relonse hesring sontinuss 10 b doraimad oo o renndi of hin nakiliy te mant the cand
tans of selennn. ahall wpoe applicntinn. be sntitied 1o have the sandiiont raviewed by b pediviel elier
whe impased them |

Part 1l ccAppearance and Penaltios

\ppesrance It s hereby FURTHER ORDERED that the defendant shall appesr next st
4th F1. Courtroom, U, §. Courthouse, Fort Worth, Texes. on Juns 22, 1979
st 9100 AN, Plese Date ond Timm
and o! such other places and Umes s the United Stares Magistrare or Court may order of
direct

c_n_eln'n It the defendant wiolates sny condition of his release, & warrsnl for his arrest will

issue immediately. Alter arrest, the terms snd ecenditions of any Wrther relesse will be
redetermined

Il the dele dant fails 10 appear belfore sny court or judicial officer as required. an
dditionsl eriminal case may be innituted sgeinst him. U the feilure 16 sppesr i in ton
nection with o charge of lelony, or while awaiting senience, of pending sppesl or cartiotsri
sfrer convigiion, the penslty is o fine of net meore then 35,000 or imprissament for net mere
than live years, or bheath; if he lails te appesr alter being velessed on » misdemesnos charge
the pensliv s o Fine of not more then the ma<imum provided for the misdemeanor or im
prisunment for not more than one year, or both

Fart TVwAcknowidgment by Defendant

Anowledgment L
e e e Dealands mi
which hava been checked above and the penalties and lorfeitures spplicable In the event
| vielste any condition or fail 1o appear as required
I agree te comply fully with each of the ebligations imposed on my velesse snd 1o notify

the Magistrate or Court promptly in the event | change the address indicated below

VLA 2.

s Naviade

s UnAerstand the methods and conditions of my relesse

Addrwne

Jeort Worth, Tesas 76116 738-509%

Cig sed Brase [ --“M"'.J ’;“

9 227 ]

C 74/ }7 f «7[«,:—/

RELEASE ORDERED - 4 O NI S v, e e ]
Uniited S-./n Magisimie /

/ 7
- - bdeey Avarr e
oue 20 Vuwe 979 o R

TO THE UNITED STATES

vour copy of the Croer Specifying Methods and Conditions of Relesse (Bail Reform Act Form No. 2) constl
tutes your suthortty for the commiiment of the de leadant untl) such time s ol conditions of release aie com
plied with. You are av'horized 1o process the defendant for release upon notiflcstion from the elurk or United
States magistrate that the defendant has pasted bond

/06 @ . . | 1

You ure direcied 10 produce the defendant before the SPPIOpRaLe Judpe of magistrate ot the tme and place
tpecilied abowe, I the defendant i stlil in your custody

Unlied Sivies Mugisiraie .
or
b knd & ime ot LA omg by e
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You are hereby command

his
rthwith before the United Siales District ( t for the NORTHET District of TEXAS
- ’
the city to snswer to ac INDIC™™M} tharging b iv witl
§ 5 eft a Fossensi f Maid ! Treasu: ech

L N {f Vosta Vel . 5 44t and »
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' By s bl e RO o olotry pnn

at 3 ) NORTHERN BISTRICT OF YEx
RETURN FILED
NORTHER District of Jli‘i'“ “1979

JOSEPH McELROY, JR., CLERK

‘JM”I"H:;IJX“_;-- executed same
AL FEIL T YTEOAS |

Deputy Clerl

eeived the wit WAL t the ) of

PLES /S, MARSHAL
ity 5. FB o2 MARRAL
4 p ’ 7

, “"‘»} A . Sy A
B il o Bnl )
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Federul Bureaw of N er “any ags of the I Tax |
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Ce. Form Ne. 12

= -;_A_-_a_a;.;mxn:mu:usm;.

You are bereby ¢

to arrest pycwamp g, "MICKY" DOW and bring hiin |
!
arthwica belore the . States District Court for the HORTHERN Distrist of TEL8
rl r o - & b > - " 3 . - 4
i the clty of FORT %.0RTt Auswer to a N1 charging b i wit
Conapira Theft and Possession of Malid, Uttering U, s, Treasury Chec)
Distruce ¢f Postal Vehicle, Alding and Abettir
. |
|
|
|
violatio { £ S 1 498 1 &2 |
|
{
|
‘ |
TE YA OSFPH MeaFr Ry
ted at . 2L Y LI § .0 ) TS - - .’3‘___:__4 smLJ-ﬁ-‘-,.-J}-;-- ............ "
. L Clerk |
ey 3 e T e .y |
~—o- ' e T pe!
By L LRl e (ot oot e D A |
il Axed at §. . o Deputy Clerk,
|
RETURN
~ [ : tof &3 !
NORTY RN TEXAS i
cived the wi \ ant the . . day of 1€ and executed same
g 12¢th June 79 4
" | B ™ ™ - » " ]
! A8 WITHIN '\avED Doy QSTODY ON 6/9/79 AT DFW MNTPORT, TEXAS.
!
-~ - !
PRI e g MARSHAL- - . "
7 / !
4 v i
B s .(v._;i’_,.‘.‘\:..___., TR |
3 ' i
r——— ¥ p~ wy ' .
= @ g T A F'. BT
Inse- Gesigmu cer 1o whom the warraal s m A':' ":“‘N" ‘lr‘{! S ﬂmm erNny other !
riged ofces": or L eC States MMaeashal for ovuee . ' D Mrict of ... <"1 87 “any United States Marshal"; |
Ny Cier ot t Federal Bureau of laves “u o Many Unitsd Stites Mucsha or any Special Agent of
wde Boue . “any agent of tha Aley ax U i
Py Rheey 0K TR '
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RONALD KOSH and

rtherance of said conspirac

979, RONALD KOSH and RICHARD

the residence cof Cathy Perez, at
Texas, during which conversation

the mail by breaking into mail

uck which nad been parked at

Texas, and obtained approxima

1979, RONALD KOSH and RICHARD
mail vehicle parked at 1808 Las Vegas

ained approximately fifty pileces

WONALD KOSH and RICHARD

r

1979, RONALD KOSH and RICHAR

approxina

T

ely five hundred

4% oo a Am on
1978 THENOLA F e« R

T CRYAEUR A .
MICKY DOW to
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LEE E. WILLIAMS, at MAACO Paint and Body Shop, in Fort Wcoth,

Texas, and had a conversation about disposing of the stolen checks.

7. ©On or about January 30, 197%, RONALD KOSH, RICHARD E.
*MICKY" DOW, THENOLA R, "T.R," COULSON and LEE E., WILLIAMS had a
meeting at Willis Used Ca s.

8. From on or about Januvary 30, 1879, to February 2, 1979,
RONALD KOEH, RICHARD E. "MICKY" DOW, THENOLA R. "T.R." COULSON,
HERMAN WEBB, JR., DORATI &, "CHUCK" REVADA and LEE E. WILLIAMS had
several meetings, at several locations, including a pool hall at
Bessie and New York Streets, in Fort Worth, Texas, and had conversa-
tions concerning cashing of stolen checks.

In viclation of Title 18, United States Coce, Section

371,

INDICTMENT - rage 3



Count 2

On or about Janvary $, 1979, in the Port Worth Division
of the Northern District of Texas, RONALD KOSH and RICHARD k.

*MICKY" DOW, defendants, did knowingly and wilfully steal, take

and abstract and attempt to so obtain from and out of United States

Postal Service Vehicle No. 111180, parked at 2908 Las Vegas Trail,
in Port Worth, Texas, a letter addressed to Dorothy Meeter,
2864 Las Vegas Trail, #1260, Fort Worth, Texas 76116,

A viclation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections

1708 and 2.

INDICTMENT = Page 4



Count 3

On or about January 8, 1979, in the Fort Worth Division
of the Northern District of Texas, RICHARD E. “MICKY" Doﬁf;nd
RONALD KOSH, defendants, 4id wilfully and maliciously hreak open
United States Postal Service Vehicle No. 121484, which was then
parked at 1808 Las Vegas Trail, in Fort Worth, %Yexas, which postal
vehicle was then and there being used for the delivery of mail on
a mail route of the United States Postal Service.

in §1olltion of Title 18, United States Code, Sections

1705 and 2.

INDICTMENT - Page S



Count 4

On or about Januery 8, 1979, in the Fort Worth Division
of tﬁl Northern District ©f Texas, RONALD KUSH and RICHARD E. "MICKy"
Dowr/defondants. with intent to d-Zcaud the United States, did utter
end publish as true to Piidies Supermarket, 18317 Everman Parkway,
Everman, Texar, a Papex writing in the forn of a U. 8, Treasury check
with a falsely made and forged endorsement pPurporting to be the
endorsement of Dorothy Meeter on the back side of Check No. 81,015,207,
dated December 31, 1978, in the amount of $250.00, drawn on the
United States Treasury, and made payable to Dorothy Meeter and the
defendants then knew the said endorserent to have been falsely made
and forged.

A violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections

198 and 2.,

JICTMENT - Page ¢
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Count 7

On or about January 30, 1979, in the Fort Worth Division
of the Northern District of Texas, RICHARD E, "MICKY" DOW and
RONALD KOSH, defendants, Aid wilfully and maliciously break open

United Sta

P
o

s Postal Service Vehicle No, 314108, which was then

o

parked at 42

¥

1 South Henderson, in Port Worth, Texas, by smashing
the front left window with & hammer, which postal vehicle was then
and there being used for the delivery of mail on a mail route of
the United States Postal Service.

In violation of Title 1B, United 8tates Cod Sect
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_ . ~MDANT ROHALD KOSH IN CUSTODY (Ed 2-7-68)

¥ WARRANT TO ISSUE FOR THE No.
PYOLLOWING DEFENDANTS : m——
RICHARD E. "MICKY" DOW UNTTED DISTRICT _ COURT
$5,000 CASH OR SURETY STA R LT
i RECOMMENDED S
THENOLA R. "T.3.% COULSON FPORT WORTH Division
$5,000 C ASY OR SURETY
BOND RECOMMENDED
P THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
' ' HERMAN WEBB, JR. ve.
: $5,000 CASH OR SURETY v
3 BOND RECOMMEZDED RONALD KOCE, RICHARD E, "MICKY" DOW, THENOLA R. “I.R. COULS)S,
& ek . . damaas HERMAN WEBB, JR., DORATI S. "CHUCK"™ REVADA, LEE E. WILLIAMS

$5,000 CASH OR SURETY

: T INDICTMENT

Ml * 2 ”’cxogo NN 18 usC 371, 1708, 495, 1705 & 2 - CONSPIRACY, THEFT AND
- . $5,0C0 CASH OR SURETY POGSESSION OF MAIL, UTTERTNG U. S. TREASURY CHECK,

: - : BOND RECOMMENDED DESTRUCTION OF POSTAL VEHMICLE, AIDING AND ABETTING.

. : (SIXTEEN COUNTS)
: : 4 trwe B, g
-3‘ : | frma ) j: (‘_// /{/

Filedimopemconrt this ____________  dey
of ,d.D. 19

s b 24
WARRANT TO ISSUE FOR EICHARD E. "MICKY" DOW, THENOLA R."T.RY
- COUL3N HERMAN WEBB,” JR .,

, /7 DORATI S."CHUCK" REVADA™ AND
LEE E. WILLIAMS.

PO »01-482

MAGISTRATE NO. L4-79-L6-M FENDING AS TO ROMALD XOSH




it e anB

Porm & 001 (hev 38 1) Complaint

Rnited States Pivtrirt Court

FOR YieE

NORTHERN DISTRISX OF TEXAS AT FOKT WORTH
S————
V£ N DisTRICT OF T&V

aTH v ED Magistrate's Docket No. %/ - 29
] Case No ¢ - M
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA . . wg !
MAY 2V COMPLAINT for VIOLATION of
v " R » ‘-RK ¢
" LS8.C Title 4
RONALD KOSHL hT: : é;p\ﬁ"
: Sections 17085 ¢ 2
ALEX H. McGLINCHEY / Fort Worth, Texas :
BEFORE ™ = Addras of Maploiraie

The cndersigned complainant being duly sworn states:
That on or about January 30 19079, at Tarrant County, Texas

in the

Northern Distriet of Texas,

) RONALD KOSH, defendant,

did't wilfully and maliciously break open postal vehicle number 2314108,
which was then parked at 420) South Henderson in Fort Worth, Texas,
by smashing the front left window with a hammer, which postal
vehicle was then and there being used for the delivery of mail
on & mail route of the United Staces Postal Service.

And the complainant states that this complaint is based on

SEE ATTATHED AFFIDAVIT.

And the complainant further states that he believes that
Richard E. "Micky" Dow, Cathy Perez, Maxine Cannon

are materia: witresses in relation to this charge.

I nn lng 5/ Sipnainre o/ Complarnant

Postal Inspec®r, U. §. Postal Service

Fowi Tiika
Sworn to before me, and subscribed in my presence jg h“v: 19 Ho

; Tl 4
Alex H,/McGline By Vsl B Mape

Thots somatnuting  the  wlonse ke resd s

£10 Jawert mame o seavand
) Iseert watement of  the e s

PR 170 (vow G40y






est of Deléndant (Rev.7.52) ©r. Form Ko. 12

WUnited States Bistrict Conrt

FOR THE

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS AT FORT WOATH

—

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

Y. ’
. o cRed 79-64
RICHARD E, “MISKY" DO™

To' AWY U, 5. MARSHAL OR ANY OTHER AUTHORIZED OFFICER :

You are herel s commanded to arrest RIcHARD E. MICKY" DOW and briog him

Sorthwith before toe United States District Coust for the NORTHERN  District of TEXAS

in the city of FORT VORTH to answer to 88 YNDICTMENT chaiginah dm  with

Conspirecy, Theft and Possession of Maid, Uttering U. 5. Treasury Check,
bi wwtion of Postal Vehicle, Alding and Abetting 2 T

JIn violation of 18 USC 371, 1708, 495, 1705 ¢ 2

Dated ot .. FORT VORTH, TEXAS oo aeee. JOSEEE MRELRAY 4 o R e e

on day 3% 1.0 o
By Z’A‘ »LL&--A ool (s Bewtr

Bl at B o Deputy Clerk:,

RETURN
District of 53
Received the within warrant the doy of 10 and executed same

PRI —

> { R D et

b iowest Zesignation ol oficer te whom the warrae! Is jetued, ¢ g, “any Unlted States Marshal or ony olher
nutherivud eficer'; or “United States Marahal 107 - ccananaaea. Districtof o . ..o or “any United States Murikal™:
or “uny Gpecial Agent of the Pederal Durean of Investigation™] or “any United Siates Marshal or wny Spezial Apent of
the l'ederal Boveau of Tavestigalion™; or “any sgent of thie Algohél Tax Unit™

L L L I R T T Y




CERTIFICATE OF OF FICIAL CHARACTER = COUNTY COURT

THE STATE OF TEXAS,
COUNTY OF TARRANT.

~
4 /l ' /
1, 4 @{ WINAA .

the County Cow! of said County (whi h is a Cowtfof Recordido hereby certify that

i

Judge of

whose name is“subscrided 1o the annexed Certificate, was al the date of the same, and is now County

Clerk in and for said County, duly elected, qualified and acting County Clerk of & ... Cowt. and full

faith and credit are due (o oll his official acts as such,

And | do fwther ceriify that the signatwre otiached 1o the annexed Certificate is his proper signa=

twe and i3 g ine, and that said atiestation is in due form,

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto set my hand and affized the seal of the said C'\ur'» Cowst,

al my office, in Fart Worth, Texas this 7 day of &M—- A.D 19

ijé‘e %Eoumy éowl ;ananl %oun.\ {exas

THE STATE OF TEXAS, )
COUNTY OF TARRANT. |

A
I }%/’%%'7’-.; Qﬁ,q‘_‘ SR

Cowu»}"?m ot n Cowuy {whic f" a Cowt of Record), do hereby certify thai
VAA2 o PNLr

whose name is subscribed to the annexed Certificate was ot the date of the same, and is nou Cauaty

Judge in and for said County, duly elected, qualified and acting County Judge of said Court, and full

faith and credit are due to all his officia! acts as such.

And | do further certify that the signatwe atiached (o the annexed Certificate is his proper signatwe

and iy genuine.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, ! have Aereunts sel »y hand and affixed the seal of the County Court,

at my a//u:/‘u Fort Worph, Texas, this

day of /1 ‘C“./

— g L

P e

o

At

Clerk unty Cowrt, Tarrant County, Texas.

Attachment 6 to

Ccc-300  Dave Andrews Affigavit
GPC-0611

N
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o JYL 33T
THE STATE OF TEXAS IN COUNTY CRIMINAL COURT NOL
, OF TARRANT COUNTY, TEXAS
‘A—W‘;’ ]

ok )5

ENTERED: i 10y

T~
On this day, this cause being calied (or inal, came the Criminal District Attorney for the State of Terns, and
came the Defendant in person; and the Defendant, having been duly armaigned, pleaded guilty to the {nforma-
tion herein, waived (sl by jury, and submitted this cause i the Court. And the information being read, the Count
received the Defendant's said plea thereto, and having heard the evidence submitied thereon, adjudged the Defen.

dant guilty as charged in the information of
Hary chate) S0 00 —Chate -

and assessed his punishment at & fue of § and &L ’ﬂm
confinement in the Tarrant County jeil, together with all costs in this behall incurred.

It appearing to the Court, however, that before his trial herein Defendant applied 1o the Court in writing for
probation herein, which application includes every verified averment required for such purpose by the Misdemenncr
Probation Act of thit Stawe; and it further appearng to the Count that the ends of justice and the best interests of
society and of the Defendant will be served by granting Dafendant probation in this cause,

IT IS THEREFORE CONSIDERED, ORDERED AND ADIUDGED, That the finding of guilty herein shall
not be final, that no )ud;mnﬁo m m’.u Defendant be, and he i hereby placed on probation in
this cause for a period of i date, on the following terms and conditinns, -wit: That
he immediately pay all costs herein incurred, and that during the term of such probation he shal!

(1) commit no offense against the laws of this or any other State or the United States: (2) avoid injurious
or vicious habits; (3) avoid persons or places of dise or harmful Zﬁmﬂtmn 10 the probation
officer on one day of each month between uu___&uy and the day, between the hours of
8 AM and 4 PM and st such other times as may 'be ordered; (5) permit the probation officer to visit him at his
bome or elsewhers; (6) work faithfully at suitable ~oloyment a3 far as possible; (7) remain within & specified
place, to-wit, Tarmant County, Texas, and not move — from without leave of the Court; potify the Court of any

change of address; (8) pay the fine imposed herein aot later than 19— and (%) suppont his
depundents. pu

The defendant is further ordered 1o pay to the Probation Office the sum of SM. covering cost of
supervision; payment © be made on or before

The Clerk of this Court will fumish the Delendant & certified copy of this order, taking his receipt therelor,

a8 & writien sistement of the period and terms of his probation. é W

Qerk's Memerandum Defendant's Reeeipt
s Papubie W ld 19
Probauoe Expires b /Pps” 5 e

Court Coss: §

Recorded i vam_sﬁ.-_/_. p._&_z_, DMC ©&~J ﬂ*« .

Probator Minutes Onfencan:s Sgnacure” |

Recei~t acknowledged on day of entry thereof,
one (1) certified copy of sbove order.
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THE STATE OF ww}
COUNTY OF TARRANT I, TROMAS P. HUGHEE, Clerk of the District Courts of sald County of Tarrant in the

State of Texas, do hereby certily that the within and preceding pagr  ataln & full sunplete, true and exact copy of
The Indictment, Judgment & Sentence, Probation <evocatior & Docket

= ‘
record in Cause No_ b bb11A

in 8 cause of

. The State of Texas, Plalntiff, v . Rochard E. Dow, Jr,

. Defendant
4th

Given under my hand and seal of office, 81 Fort Worth, in said County of Tarrant, State of Texas, this
3

THOMAS P. HUGHES
CLERK OF THE DISTRICT COURTS

LARRANT CO Xa$
»mm SSWN

THE STATE OF TEXAS
COUNTY OF TARRANT ( Ceorge Kredell Jodge of the

Criminal Distriet Court 213th

of the State of Texas, presiding in the County

i Tarrant, do heredy certify that the Deputy Clerk whose name appesrs 1o be sighed Lo the above certificate. is and was
4t the time of gning the same. the Deputy Clerk of said Distriet Court therein mentioned, and as such was the proper

person to maks sald certificate, and that the same is In due form.

Given under my hand officially this L 450 day or . Cctobar AD 19 3}

Judge

STAminal __ _ DISTRICT COURT _2L3th
TARRANT COUNTY. TEXAS

== eSS LTIl

THE STATE OF TEXAS

UNTY OF TA.BMNT}
co I, THOMAS P. HUGHES, Clerk of the Dustrict Courts, Termant County, Texas do

hereby cenify that Gnorg Kredell Juln of e Criminal

District Count 2i3ch of Turrant County, Texas, 4. and was, at time of signing the ame  the

duly elected, qualified and acting Judge of sai Coust herein mentioned and as such was the proper person to maks @id
certificate, and that the same is in due form.
Civen unde: my hand and seal of office, at Fort Worth, in sid County of Tarrant, State of Texas, this &L..,m,

of Cctober A.D 19 81

THOMAS P. HUGHES
CLERK OF THE DISTRICT COURTS
TAQ.ANT COUNTY, TRXAS
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Attachment 7 to gt
Dave Andrews Affidavit
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KICHARD £ DOW UK OFFENSE EBURGLARY & THEFT 0/810,000

KT 2 BOX 9 DATE 09-24-773.P. NO. 43954
FORT WORTH TX swmn= ':.r. LEWIS RAY WILSON
RACE WSEX MAGE 29DOB  11-2d-47 C.C. #0121872
CASE NO. 0121573FILED: (DATE) 09-3e-77 AGENCY FORT WORTH FD

OFFPENSE NO, 77-E-3041 COURT

mpzetMent wo. _ 114114

L e e e e e L A e e

ND BY A i
THE GRAND JURORS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS, duly elected, tried, empaneled,
sworn and charged to inquire of offenses committed in Tarrant County, in thg

~ State of Texss, upon their oaths do preeent in and te the

BN District Court No._ 213, of said County that & & * & & & &

RICHARD E DOW UKk hereinafter callel Defendant, in the County of

Tarrant and State aforeseid, on or atout the 24THday of SEPTEMRER1Y 77 d4d

THEN AMD THERE KNOWINGLY AND WITHOUT THE EFFECTIVE CONSENT OF LEWTS RAY WILJON.

THE OWNLK THEKEUF/, ENTFR @& BUILDING NOT THEN AND THERE OPEN TO THE FURLIC: WITH
INTENT TO COMMIT THEFT,

COUNT TWl:  AND 17 1S FURTHER PRESENTED IN AND TO THE SAID COURT THAT RICHARD ¢
DOW, JR.. IN THE COUNTY OF TARRANT AND STATE AFORESAID. ON OR ABROUT THE ZA4TH
DAY UF SEFTEMBER) 1977, DID THEN AMD HERE INTENTONALLY AND KNOWINGLY. WITHOUT
THE EFFECTIVE CONSENT OF LEWIS RAY WILSON: THE OWNER THEREOF ; ENTER A HABRITATII
AND DIL BRIVEART 10 COMMAT AND DID COMMIT THEFT:

CoJNi THKEE:  AND IT 15 FURTHER PRESENTED IN AND 10 SAID COURT THAT THE Salbd
KICHARD E. DUKS Ji.s IN THE COUNTY OF TARRANT AND STATE AFORESAID, ON OR #BOUT
THE 2416 DAY UF SEFTEMBER, 1977, DID THEN AND THERE KNOWINGLY AND INTENTIONALLY
AFPROPKIATE PROFERTY, OTHER THAN REAL PROPERTY, TO-WIT. A COIN COLLECTION,

OF THE VALUE OF MORE THAN 810,000, FROM TKE OWNER: LEWIS RAY WILSON, WITHOUT “TH

EFFECTIVE CONSENT OF THE OWNER AND WITH INTENT 1O DEPRIVE THE OWNER OF THE
PROFERTY,

e s
A SR PIPITD JuFh,

L .
arrssr JNaA. L0 nﬁuw
TEWASS, gusEs

1 Disprdet Clerk

Filed (Clerk's use on.

FlL
DISTRICT coug 3 213
TARRANT COUNTY, 1EXAS

0CT 168 877

AGAINST THE PEACE AND DIONITY OF THE STATE.
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 THE STATE OF TEXAS N THE . _CRIMINAL DISTRICT
V8, NO.. 114110 COURT __NUMBER TOVR..___ OF
RICHARD E. DOV, JRo . TARRANT COUNTY, TEXAS

ORDER SETTING CONDITIONS OF PROBATION

Dateof Entry ¢ Jenyary 16th, 1978 -
Defencast : Righerd E, Dow, Jr.
d ! n re ¢ ' . 5 e

e e

l
|
Attorney for State ¢ Criminal Disteiel Attorney « Tim Curry ) '
Attorney for Defendust | Robert Patton i I

|

Olfeuse i Burglery
wmm_v;m

a ”wmﬂu,\:: m v dale A”'m numy h:“t:“o ':-‘:ét.
- ';,M gch v u m o m wiparviaion of the Court
huw Mtuj%mu gﬁm»«w n-un. Wm bove named te
b, ”10 : Lone: namely, h‘m J::An.:“!‘h ‘::I‘ hn:‘lhll

& Commit no elfense spainst the Jaws of this Stale or any other Htat. of the Unitnd Blatey;

b Aweid injaricm o7 viciows havila

& Avold persona and pleces of “lsreputable or harmlul charseter;

& Report 5 the Adult Probation Officar of Tarrant County, Texss on the Jdéth day ol

e, ‘oL—q ‘.‘ o8 Lhe -—J&-—- “’ of esch monis mﬂ“u" ‘Mh. ’”Nlm!ﬂ
& Pormt the Acalt Probation Office. 1o wiait you st your home or elsewhere;
£ Work falthfully st sultabie employment &8 far as ponsible;
& Remaln within the Lmits of Tarrent County, Tenns, undess glven permission by the Tarrant County Adult ?nhum Ofliear to

Jearve ro®)
b Bupport your depandesia;
L ~M“lt:‘ Adult MI- Officer of Tarrant County, Texas, If your address or employment is changed, within five doys from
A hbﬂWmAm Probation Of, f Tarvent Coonty, Tesas, the ng !
3 COURT COSTS 1 the amount of .__....-muuuc por L manth
the first payment Lo be mace on the bth hy ot Eehruary. 1011....... and 8 like peyment
nm._lm._._nmmmum-uu-umm Is mads:

& PRODATION FEE In the acount of $.10.00 on the ALh v ol February wlB
Al on the _JAER _ Gy of aach \er during Probation;
tmonuw.nmmo.ﬁ:m_._ammu__xﬁwﬁ_.
e Eahruary c_m.m. nymm

ot @ be made on e o JBEN ___ dsy of v doiinizrty £ '
day of each month thereafier untll full payment ls o
GMhWantoll S TN B o Bemmnimmmnns & O in —— T (111
payment to be wnade on tie day ol o S| Be— T R TR

or the day of each month (comeafier untll full payment ls made.
k. Bubmit 16 & pariod of detantion in the County Jall of Tarranl County, Texas, to strve & tar_. of Laprisonment of =
| days, 16 begin on the day of 1% “
, m

ﬂ“\: Clerk of this Court will fumiah Dafrodant o “epy of the abeve tearms and conditions and note the @ste of delivery of such copy or

namrees
 Footnotar:
{0 Net less tan the minkram preseribed for the affense nor more then 10 years (See. 3, Afl 4212, C.CP..
| la Not to sxeend 30 days of onethird f the sentence, whichever 's leaser,
W Additional terms »ar be sdded

|
|
|
i.
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|
|

Coanrrioh) 1AT8 Tares Pamuiiar T ama] Fosens
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] Grounds for Revosation & __ 1.
! , take and abstrac
) of United State:

r &6 stated in St f

p R

'i:%: &“ ® um Ma:u\ oh pro

oon‘« u of &y

& reduction of (mp

r%‘:‘" "'aommuhu

T her 2 mmfn mc.unmn

LR ] .N
il st s

(l ' ’].

a*f () Show neme and title of prossentor. :

M Show “None® of show cause number, district sourt ar
]t Obtaln Punlakmant from original judgment ohem,‘ '
116 Bhew “None or ahow "Nleduted years'

i. %) Show paragraphs of original probation erder name
1 Reclia the grounds announted by the Court as the

» Q} R = T T T e —
Coprright
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CC o200 CRIMINAL DOCKET P
4z ) STy - py— T T e €5 Wl INSTS
THE STATE OF TEXAS | -
- i nn ¥ i BUSBL-Y F Feoil iy EW . AT C
ARICHSRD © DOW  Js Dett CFFENSE DT - QWIHIY Faws &F S e T«
s o = et 3 It o s Frank McCowm
Date of Orders of Cowt > o B
Orders — . s
e S —— - - T - —— . ) . e - o e —— e ————— D
LO/18/777 INDICTAS9Y SETusSies AND CaPidy ORDESZG. ouNY el ATSe@OUd o o o o

o Tiwt e P B s e e - P S

'Q ~‘_'.”>..(“~:____.‘ N e I/t; - . . \_"
DEC 13 B// r—smsmcman saincantes 1 . _“.v‘_.'!

=
Tarrars Co, Totan, o = on of Daires Astosney Y -
1-6-78 Pre trial, ao moticas. - — s s,
- ML‘ - TR v T
Saiver of fiiad Dafandaat, aftas bol~z wirsed, entered plea of
& . tefore thr Coust. ATter f-irling the evidence, the Court

found defendant guiity and assossed his pusishoent at 4@ years
Judgmant

in the Texas Department of Correcti~ns.

_$0- years uncer teras and condits

The Conditions of Frobatton were servad en the Defl

e - 7P

i

en<ant piiced on Probation for

ons that during the terss gf

aTTosT. VLAl ol 3e T 1

inclusive. regular terms.

-
|

P‘”"Ww

‘ cn-g 1 Jistrict Cleck
By .

p 5

5-1-79 | Petition for r«:é%ﬁ‘.m, warrant issued

5-4-79 | Petition to revoke diswissed, recall warrant

£-11-79 ' Petition to revoke probated sentence filed, warrant issued
7-20-79 |

Hon Frank McCpwn appointed as attormey
ition to revoke granted, sentenced to Not less than 2 years and not more than & years in the Texas

Depattment of Corrections, concurrent with federal CR4-79-64, Crddit 9-3J-77 to 1-16-78

6-20-79 to 9-10-79

8-12-80 Order Granting Defendant “redit for all téme spent In Jail while in A hosptial o o
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WSERVICES

Dovid L. Andrewy
Owwiiar o Corporare Securws

April 8, 1991

Mr. Mickey Dow
586 N. Clinton
Stephenville, Texas 76401

Dear Mr. Dow:

- Through our meetings on March 22, 1991 and April 1, 1991, |t
is our understanding that we have now learned from you, and from
those you have identified as your "clients,* all concerns that any
of you have relating to the Comanche Peak Steam Electric Station.
As you Kknow, we are currently investigating any coencern not
previously investigated and resolved and intend to take
appropriate action should our investigation determine that the
previous investigation was incouplete or that further action is
warranted, Furthermore, we have advised the Nuclear Regulatory
Commission of any such concerns that might relate to activities
which that agency rcgulates.

In our meetings, you have indicated an interest in discussing
with company representatives the settlement and negotiation of your
“clients'" claims. Since you are not licensed to practice lav in
this state, we do not believe that you have the authority to
represent, negotiate, or enter into binding obligations on others
behalf. We thus cannot and will not engage in any such discussions
with you regarding the claims of others. Additionally, cur lawyers
have advised us that to engage in such discussions might be
improperly aiding in the unauthorized practice of law.

We will, of course, listen to any further concerns you might
have ab.ut Comanche Peak and act appropriately thereon. We will
also discuss any claims of the individuals you have claimed to
represent, either directly with them if they so desire, or with a
licensed attorney of their choice. We continue to encourage you
and tho e you are working with to discuss any concerns you may have
with the Nuclear Regulatory Commission, or with any other
appropriate state or federal agency, or with SAFETEANM. '

-

Attachnent 8
WON Olve LB Dallas. Tenns 7439

to



Mr. Mickey Dow
April 8, 1§9]
Page Tw

Regarding yoeur possession of TU Electric's property
specifically the telephone tapes, wve again request that you
impediately return them to the company, where they will be safel
“aintained during the pendency of any claims that may relate to
them. Your continued withholding of this property is not legally
Justified and hampers our ability to investigate fully your clains
about them. Should your refusal to return these items be basod
Upon a mistaken belief that they will not be properly cared for, wve
encourage you to place them in the custody of a local law
enforcenent agency near the plant for safekeeping, and with the
express understanding that hey will be accessible for
investigation and review by the ' ompany and any regulatory agency,
incliuding the Nuclear Regqulatory Commission, during the pendency of
any clainms.

Very truly yours,

-~

LQKM; (,[ &‘-'2 . (__,L‘A-{i( prv. '/

David L. Andrevs




